# The Constitution of the Faculty

2 approved by the Faculty May 2019

3 4 5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

#### **PREAMBLE**

We, the faculty of the College of Liberal Arts at California State University, Long Beach, adopt this Constitution in order to establish and define an organizational structure to promote, through orderly and equitable internal governance, an environment for faculty and students which is conducive to the achievement of academic excellence and academic freedom. The faculty and students of the College of Liberal Arts constitute a community of teachers and scholars within the University whose interest is best served through the continuous exercise of the maximum degree of self-governance consonant with the legitimate authority granted to the Trustees of the the California State University and their designees. Further, we declare our desire to consult with academic administrators and other academic units within the University on matters pertaining to the College and the welfare of the University.

15 17 18

19 20

## ARTICLE I. NAME AND MEMBERSHIP

- 1. The name of this body shall be "The Faculty of the College of Liberal Arts," hereafter referred to as "the Faculty."
- 2. Membership in the body shall consist of the full-time faculty of the College, the Dean
- and Associate Dean(s), and such others as the members shall, by majority vote, admit to
- membership. Participants in the Early Retirement Program or the Pre-retirement Program shall be considered members of this body.
  - 3. Membership in this body shall not lapse because of leave of absence.

252627

28

#### ARTICLE II. POWERS AND SOURCES OF FACULTY AUTHORITY

## A. POWERS OF THE FACULTY

- 29 1. Subject to the laws of the State of California, the regulations of the Board of Trustees of the
- California State University, the policies and regulations of California State University, Long
- Beach, and the CBA the Faculty shall be the policy-formulating body of the College.
- 2. The Faculty shall have the right to be formally consulted by the Dean on all matters
- pertaining to the operation of the College and its programs.
- 3. The Faculty shall periodically evaluate the performance of the administrative officers of the
- 35 College as set forth in the provisions of Academic Senate documents.
- 4. The Faculty may present to the University Academic Senate, and to appropriate
- 37 administrative officers of the University, matters pertaining to the welfare of the College
- or the University.
- 5. The Faculty shall have the power, subject to the limitations of ARTICLE II, Section A.1,
- 40 to propose and adopt new regulations or policies or to amend existing policies or regulations.
- 6. The Faculty shall define and limit the powers and duties of its committees.
- 7. The Faculty shall take no action that abridges the autonomy of any academic area of
- 43 the College, except as the general welfare of the College is involved.

44 45

## B. SOURCES OF COLLEGE AUTHORITY

46 1. Consistent with the laws of the State of California, Trustee policy, and the CBA, authority for

- actions within the College shall derive from this document and the Policies and Procedures
- documents adopted by the Faculty.
- 2. If any portion of an academic area constitution is in conflict with this Constitution of the
- Faculty of the College, the latter shall prevail.
- 3. Questions of interpretation of this Constitution shall be resolved by the Faculty Council.

54

## ARTICLE III. ORGANIZATION

A. The Faculty shall exercise its governance powers and formulate its policies by means of the organization described in this Article.

555657

- B. The Faculty of the College shall meet in general session at least once each academic
- year. It may meet additionally as called by the Dean or the Faculty Council or upon a petition
- of ten percent of the Faculty submitted to the Dean.
- 1. The Dean of the College shall be the Chair of the Faculty and shall act as presiding officer at meetings of the Faculty.
- 2. Twenty-five percent of the full-time faculty shall constitute a quorum for general meetings of the Faculty.
- 3. There shall be a Faculty Council and Standing Committees as described in Sections A and B below.
- 4. The Dean is the Chief Administrative Officer of the College. Provisions concerning
- the relationship between the Faculty and the Office of the Dean are given in Section C below.
- 5. Primary responsibility for the organization, implementation, and oversight of the
- College's courses of instruction in conformity with educational policies of the University
- and the College shall rest with the several academic areas of the College. Provisions for
- recognizing the academic areas of the College and other matters concerning them are specified in Section D below.

74 75

76

## C. THE FACULTY COUNCIL

- 1. The Faculty shall establish an elected body to be known as the Faculty Council of the
- College to exercise the powers which vest in the Faculty. The Council's Chair shall serve
- as presiding officer at all College meetings in the absence of the Dean. The Council's
- 79 Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Faculty. The Council shall meet at least once each
- month of the academic year.
- 2. <u>Membership.</u> The Council shall be an elected representative body of the College.
- 2.1 Each academic area shall be entitled to one Faculty Council representative for every
- 10 full-time faculty members or fraction thereof serving in the area at the beginning of
- the academic year. Full time is defined as FTEF and includes tenured and probationary faculty,
- individuals who are on authorized leave status and lecturers with 3 year contracts and a time
- base of 1.0 (15 WTUs). Faculty in the FERP count 0.5 and faculty with joint appointments
- count in both of their assigned departments.
- a. All full-time faculty as defined above and faculty on FERP who are employed the full
- academic year are eligible to serve on the Faculty Council and on any committees except
- when prohibited by policy, the CBA, or specific membership requirements as defined in
- 91 this document.

- 92 2.2 Faculty representatives from an academic area shall be elected from the full-time
- faculty of the area by a majority of votes cast in a secret ballot by the full-time members
- of the area. Academic areas shall elect alternates in the same manner to serve in the
- absence of the elected representative.
- 2.3 Two additional representatives shall be part-time faculty elected at large from among
- 97 the faculty holding part-time appointment in any of the academic areas of the College.
- 2.4 The Dean of the College shall be an ex officio, voting member of the Council.
- 2.5 In the event of a vacancy, a new member shall be elected by the academic area to fill the
- unexpired term within a month, excluding holidays, of the vacancy
- 2.6 Students of the College will have one (1) non-voting member on the Faculty Council
- elected by the College of Liberal Arts Student Council."
- 2.7 A quorum for Faculty Council actions shall consist of a majority of its members.

1041053. Terms of Office

- 3.1 Elected full-time faculty members of the Council shall serve staggered two-year terms
- and may be re-elected.
- 3.2 Elected part-time faculty members of the Council shall serve for a one-year term and may
- serve no more than three consecutive years.
- 110 4. Officers of the Council
- 4.1 The Faculty Council shall elect each year a Chair, a Vice-Chair, a Secretary and two At-
- 112 Large members.
- 4.2 The Council may establish other officers and committees as it finds necessary. Such officers
- and committees are dependent on the Council for their charge and their authority.
- 5. Duties and Functions
- 116 5.1 The Faculty Council, as the representative body of the Faculty of the College of
- Liberal Arts, shall exercise the powers of the Faculty on behalf of the College. The
- 118 Council shall be responsible to the Faculty at all times.
- 5.2 The Faculty Council may review the actions of the Dean and the Standing Committees of
- the College. Except where other procedures are mandated in State and University regulations, in
- the CBA or in other sections of this Constitution, it may hear appeals to the actions of those
- agencies, and may mediate, arbitrate, or adjudicate disputes.
- 123 5.3 The Faculty Council shall adjudicate all disputes concerning interpretation of this
- 124 Constitution or of Policies and Procedures provisions falling under it.

125

- 126 D. STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE COLLEGE OF LIBERAL ARTS
- 1. There shall be the following Standing Committees:
- 128 Executive Committee of the Faculty Council
- 129 Educational Policies and Curriculum
- 130 Budget
- 131 Retention, Tenure, and Promotion
- 132 Sabbatical Leave
- 133 Grade Appeals
- 134 Awards
- 135 Research, Scholarly and Creative Activities
- 136 Graduate Council

137

- These Committees shall be established and have duties as prescribed in the sub-sections which
- 139 follow.

- 2. Actions of all Standing Committees (other than specific Retention, Tenure, and
- 141 Promotion actions, individual Sabbatical or Difference-in-Pay Leave recommendations, and
- individual Grade Appeal recommendations) may be reviewed by the Faculty Council.
- 3. Specific charges, policies, and procedures for each committee are detailed in the Policies and
- procedures documents of the College and in other pertinent documents of the University. It shall
- be part of the general charge to every Standing Committee to review those details periodically,
- and to recommend improvements to the Faculty Council. The Faculty Council may amend or
- supplement the details in the Policies and Procedures documents in light of such
- recommendations and other information and considerations, including conformance with broader
- 149 University policies and requirements.
- 4. All Standing Committees except the Retention, Tenure, and Promotion Committee, the
- 151 Sabbatical Leave Committee, and the Grade Appeals Committee shall regularly forward
- copies of their agendas and minutes to the Chair of the Faculty Council and to all academic
- 153 areas.

161

- 5. All Standing Committees shall provide the Faculty Council with a report of their activities
- at the end of each academic year and such interim reports as are requested by the Council.
- Annual reports may contain recommendations to the Council concerning matters under the
- iurisdiction of the committee.
- 6. Alternates shall be elected to all committees with the exception of the Executive Committee
- of the Faculty Council and the Graduate Council.

## 7. **Executive Committee** of the Faculty Council

- 7.1 Membership
- a. The Executive Committee shall consist of at least the following members: the Chair, the
- Vice-Chair, and the Secretary of the Faculty Council, and two At-Large members of the
- 165 Council elected by and from that body. The Council may augment this membership with other
- officers as it finds necessary.
- b. There shall be no more than one faculty member from any one academic area.
- 168 7.2 Duties and Functions
- a. The Executive Committee shall organize the work of the Council and perform such other
- functions as may be assigned to it by the Council.
- b. The Executive Committee serves for one academic year. Between the time of the election in
- the Spring and the beginning of the academic year in the fall, members of both the outgoing and
- incoming Executive Committees will work together in representation of the Council.
- 174 c. The Executive Committee, in consultation with the Dean and other appropriate officers of the
- 175 College and University, shall act for the Faculty Council in emergencies and when the Council
- cannot be brought into session. All such actions are reviewable by the Council as soon as
- 177 circumstances permit.
- d. The Vice Chair of the Faculty Council shall replace the Chair when needed. If the Chair steps
- down from the position for any reason, the Vice Chair will assume the Chair's duties until the end
- of that Chair's term or until the Chair returns from an approved leave.
- e. Any other vacancy on the Faculty Council Executive Committee shall be replaced by a special
- election called no later than one month after the vacancy occurs and following the procedures for
- Executive Committee elections described in Article IV, section 2.6.

#### **Educational Policies and Curriculum Committee**

8.1. Membership

184

- a. The Educational Policies and Curriculum Committee shall have nine full-time faculty
- members and two alternates elected by the full-time faculty of the College.
- b. There shall be no more than one elected faculty member from any one academic area.
- c. Faculty members shall serve staggered two-year terms and may be reelected but shall not serve more than four consecutive years.
- d. There may be one student member from the College selected by the Student Council.
- e. The Dean or Dean's designee shall be an ex officio, non-voting member of the Committee.
- 8.2. Duties and Functions
- a. The Educational Policies and Curriculum Committee shall maintain overview of the
- educational policies of the College in the framework of the mission of the College and shall
- make recommendations for action to the Faculty Council and Dean. b. The Committee shall
- act for the College Faculty, in accordance with Policies and Procedures set by the Faculty
- 198 Council and the University Academic Senate, in all matters involving curriculum and
- educational programs.
- 200 c. A quorum for Committee action shall consist of five faculty members. The
- 201 Committee shall function as a committee of the whole in all deliberations involving
- 202 curriculum or general education.
- d. An academic area may appeal a recommendation of this Committee to the Faculty Council.

# 9. Budget Committee

- 9.1 Membership
- a. The Budget committee shall have 9 full time faculty members and two alternates. The Dean and
- the Executive Committee shall nominate and the Faculty Council will elect the number of members
- 210 necessary to fill the seats for the appropriate terms needed to stagger the membership of the
- 211 committee.

205

206

207

225

- b. There shall be no more than one faculty member from any one academic area.
- c. The nine faculty members appointed by the Faculty Council shall serve staggered three-
- year terms, and no faculty member shall serve more than six consecutive years.
- d. There may be one student member from the College selected by the Student Council.
- e. The Dean or Dean's designee shall be an ex officio, non-voting member of the Committee.
- 9.2 Duties and Functions
- a. The Budget Committee, in accordance with instructions that it may receive from the
- Faculty Council, shall maintain overview of the fiscal condition of the College and its
- constituent programs. The Committee shall work with the Dean and the academic areas
- in setting and pursuing the budgetary measures appropriate for implementing the educational
- polices and mission of the College.
- b. Five faculty members shall constitute a quorum.
- c. All actions of the Budget Committee may be reviewed by the Faculty Council.

## 226 10. Retention, Tenure and Promotion Committee

- 227 10.1 Membership
- a. The committee must have seven (7) tenured, full-time faculty members at the rank of
- Professor and three (3) additional members at the rank of Associate Professor or Professor. b.
- Additionally, one (1) alternate at the rank of Professor shall be elected for one year. If the

- 231 alternate does not serve on the committee, this individual is eligible for election to the committee
- when the term ends.
- b. Members shall serve staggered 2-year terms and shall not be re-elected for more than two
- consecutive terms. Members are elected by the tenured and probationary faculty of the College.
- c. There shall be no more than two faculty members from any one academic area, who must also
- be at different ranks.
- d. Committee members may not serve on any other standing or ad hoc Retention, Tenure, and
- 238 Promotion Committee of the University.
- e. If Department Chairs or Program Directors serve on this committee, they will be
- recused from decisions involving any faculty from their departments or programs.
- f. Faculty participating in the Faculty Early Retirement Program (FERP) may serve
- on RTP committees if elected by majority vote and approved by the President, yet no
- 243 RTP committee may be comprised solely of faculty participating in the FERP.

## 9.2 <u>Duties and Functions</u>

- a. The Retention, Tenure, and Promotion Committee, in accordance with provisions
- of the CBA and the pertinent Retention, Tenure, and Promotion policies and
- procedures of the University and College, shall review all candidates for retention,
- tenure, or promotion and shall make appropriate recommendations to the Dean of the
- 249 College and to the President of the University.
- b. The Committee shall maintain overview of the Retention, Tenure, and Promotion policies that
- 251 affect the Faculty of the College in its professional mission and shall make recommendations to
- 252 the Faculty Council and the Dean concerning changes in those policies.

## 10. Sabbatical Leave Committee

255 10.1 Membership

253

254

268

269

- a. The Sabbatical Leave Committee shall consist of seven tenured faculty members and one alternate elected by the tenured and probationary faculty of the College.
- b. Members shall serve staggered two-year terms and may not serve consecutive terms.
- 259 c. There shall be no more than one member from any one academic area.
- d. A faculty member applying for sabbatical leave shall not serve on this committee.
- 261 10.2 Duties and Functions
- a. The Sabbatical Leave Committee, in accordance with the provisions of the CBA and the
- 263 pertinent policies and procedures of the University and College, shall review all Sabbatical
- proposals and shall make appropriate recommendations to the Dean of the College.
- b. The Committee shall maintain overview of the policies affecting sabbatical leaves and
- shall make recommendations to the Faculty Council and the Dean concerning necessary or
- desirable changes in those policies.

## 11. Grade Appeals Committee

- 270 11.1 Membership
- a. The Grade Appeals Committee shall have four faculty members and one alternate

- elected by the Faculty Council.
- b. There shall be no more than one faculty member from any one academic area.
- c. Faculty members of the Committee shall serve staggered two-year terms and shall
- serve no more than two consecutive terms.
- d. Department Chairs and Program Directors may not serve on this Committee.
- e. There shall be one student member of the Committee and one student alternate.
- 278 f. Student members of the Committee shall be selected in a manner determined by the
- 279 Student Council and shall serve one-year terms.
- g. No individual may serve on this Committee and also on another Grade Appeals
- 281 Committee in the University.
- 282 11.2 Duties and Functions
- The Grade Appeals Committee shall function as prescribed in the University Policy Statement
- on Grade Appeals and in accordance with any further policies that the Faculty Council may
- enact.

308

309

# 287 12. Awards Committee

- 288 12.1. Membership
- a. The Awards Committee shall have 5 faculty members and two alternates elected by the
- tenured and probationary faculty of the College.
- b. There shall be no more than one faculty member from any one academic area.
- c. Faculty members of the Committee shall serve staggered two-year terms and shall serve no more than two consecutive terms.
- d. Department Chairs and Program Directors may not serve on this Committee.
- e. Members of the Awards Committee may not be nominated for an award or have nominated
- another faculty member for an award. Award committee members shall identify any conflicts
- of interest related to the evaluation of any nominee and recuse themselves from the evaluation
- of that nominee and be replaced, if needed, by an alternate for the award concerned.
- 299 12.2. Duties and Functions
- a. The Awards Committee shall review all submissions sent to the Dean's office for student
- awards and select winners in each category.
- b. The Awards Committee shall also review faculty submissions to the Dean's office for the
- following: the Distinguished Faculty Scholarly and Creative Achievement Award, the Distinguished
- Faculty Teaching Award and the Early Academic Career Excellence Award and the Distinguished
- Faculty Advising Award. The College Awards Committee shall review and rank the submissions.
- 306 The College Awards Committee shall then forward the nominees' submitted materials, along with
- the Committee's recommendation and ranking, to the Academic Senate Office.

## 13. Research, Scholarly and Creative Activities Awards Committee

- These awards include RSCA (Assigned Time), Minigrants and Summer Stipends (MGSS) and
- other research support awards as are made available by the College or University. The activities of
- this committee are governed by the College of Liberal Arts Policy and Procedures for Research,
- 313 Scholarly and Creative Activities Awards.
- 314 13.1. Membership
- a. The RSCA committee will have nine members and two alternates elected by the
- tenured/tenure track faculty of the CLA. Members will serve 2-year staggered terms and shall not
- serve more than two consecutive terms.

- b. Two thirds of the members of the committee must be full-time, tenured faculty of any rank. No
- more than one third of the members of the committee may be probationary faculty.
- c. No more than two members from any one department or program can serve on the RSCA
- 321 committee.
- d. Elected members of this committee may apply for MGSS awards if they do not serve on the
- 323 MGSS Sub-committee.
- 13.2. The MGSS sub-committee will have at least three members and one alternate elected by the
- members of the RSCA committee.
- a. Members of the sub-committee must be full-time, tenured faculty with either associate or full
- 327 professor rank.
- b. No more than one person from any department or program can serve on the MGSS sub-
- 329 committee
- c. Members of this committee may *not* apply for MGSS awards.
- 13.3. Duties and Functions.
- The RSCA committee will determine procedures for handling, reviewing, and ranking CLA
- RSCA reassigned time applications. The committee forwards its final recommendations and
- rankings to the Dean of the College, who makes the final award determination.
- 13.4. The MGSS sub-committee determines procedures for handling, reviewing, and ranking
- 336 CLA MGSS applications. The committee forwards its final recommendations and rankings to the
- University MGSS Awards Committee, which makes the final award determination.

## 339 14. Graduate Council

340 14.1 Membership

338

357

358

- a. Each academic area with a graduate program shall be entitled to have one faculty representative on
- the Graduate Council, normally understood to be that program's Graduate Advisor.
- b. Graduate students shall be entitled to have two non-voting representatives on the Graduate
- Council. The representatives must be CLA graduate students in good standing, and shall be selected
- by the CLA and/or ASI Student Councils to serve for a period of no more than one academic year.
- c. The CLA Associate Dean responsible for graduate studies shall be an ex officio voting member of
- the Graduate Council. The CLA Director of Graduate Studies, appointed by the Dean, shall also be
- an ex officio voting member of the Graduate Council.
- d. The Graduate Council shall elect a chairperson from its representatives for a one-year term.
- 350 14.2 Duties and Functions
- a. The Graduate Council shall meet at least once per semester. A quorum for Council actions shall
- consist of one-third of its voting members.
- b. The Graduate Council shall maintain oversight of all initiatives and policies relating to graduate
- studies, and shall make recommendations for action to the Faculty Council. In deliberations
- involving graduate curricula, EPCC may consult with the Graduate Council. The Graduate Council
- will form ad hoc subcommittees as needed.

# E. FACULTY COUNCIL COMMITTEES

- 1. Types of committees
- 360 1.1. Standing Committees
- 361 Standing Committees of the Faculty Council meet on a regular basis (at least once per general
- Faculty Council meeting). The formation of standing committees and the definition of the
- functions and responsibilities are determined by majority vote of the Faculty Council. Members
- of standing committees will be elected following the elections for the Executive Committee.
- Additional members of standing committees may be elected in the first meeting of the Fall
- semester. Departmental election or appointment to the position of Graduate Advisor will

- be understood to suffice for membership on the Graduate Council.
- 368
- 369 1.2. Ad-Hoc Committees
- Ad-hoc Committees of the Faculty Council are formed with specific responsibilities and
- dissolve upon completion of those responsibilities. The formation of ad-hoc committees and the
- definition of the functions and responsibilities are determined by majority vote of the Faculty
- Council. Members of ad-hoc committees will be determined by vote of the Faculty Council at
- the time of formation of the committee.
- 2. Eligibility and Terms of Service
- Regular members of committees of the Faculty Council must be members of the Faculty
- Council. Members of standing committees shall be elected for a term of one year. Members
- of ad-hoc committees shall be elected for the period required to fulfill the function of the
- committee. In addition, one member of the elections committee may be appointed from
- outside the council if deemed necessary.
- 3. Internal Procedures
- Unless otherwise indicated, committees are free to establish their own procedures which
- include appropriate ad hoc or committee structuring. Committees may not, however, make
- substantive changes to their charge or structure without a majority vote of the Faculty Council.
- Committees will report their structure, including the process used to elect a chairperson, to the
- 386 Faculty Council.
- 4. Minutes and Reports
- All committees shall submit to the secretary of the Faculty Council a reproducible copy
- of their Minutes. All Councils and Committees shall prepare, at the conclusion of the
- academic year, year-end reports containing their recommendations.
- 391
- 5. Standing Committees of the Faculty Council
- 5.1. Committee on Technology
- a. Membership
- The committee shall consist of between two and four members of the Faculty Council
- elected by the Faculty Council. Members will serve for one academic year.
- b. Duties and Functions
- The Committee on Technology will have responsibility for coordinating, in cooperation with
- the Executive Committee, the approach of the Faculty Council in issues related to technology.
- These issues include, but are not limited to, Beachboard, the CSULB server, classroom
- technology, software utilization, technical support for faculty, and the Faculty Center for
- 402 Professional Development. In each area, the committee will:
- -- Find common issues across Departments in the College of Liberal Arts related to
- 404 technology
- -- Coordinate with technical staff in the gathering of information, presentations to the Faculty
- 406 Council, and the implementation of policies
- -- Make recommendations to the Faculty Council related to technology
- -- Oversee the maintenance of the web page of the Faculty Council
- 409
- 5.2. Committee on Faculty and Professional Issues
- 411 a. Membership
- The committee shall consist of between two and four members of the Faculty Council
- elected by the Faculty Council. Members will serve for one academic year.
- 414 b. Responsibilities
- The Committee on Faculty Personnel Issues will have responsibility for coordinating, in
- cooperation with the Executive Committee, the approach of the Faculty Council in issues

- related to faculty personnel issues. These issues include, but are not limited to, workload, pay
- equity, and Retention, Tenure and Promotion. In each area, the committee will:
- -- Find common issues across Departments in the College of Liberal Arts related to
- 420 faculty personnel issues
- -- Coordinate with administrators in the College of Liberal Arts in the gathering of
- 422 information.
- presentations to the Faculty Council, and the implementation of policies
- -- Make recommendations to the Faculty Council related to faculty personnel issues

431

432

433

434

435

436

437

438

439

440

441

442

443

444

445

446

447

448

449

450

451 452

453

454

455

456

457

458

459

460

- 5.3. Elections Committee
- a. Membership
- The Committee shall consist of three to five members elected by the Faculty Council and serving
- 2-year staggered terms. The Chair of this committee and a majority of its members shall be on the Faculty Council.

## b. Duties and Functions

- 1) The Elections Committee shall supervise all elections overseen by the Faculty Council including committees of the council, elections to college-wide committees conducted within the Faculty Council, and all college-wide elections within the College of Liberal Arts. The Elections Committee will not have responsibility for overseeing the confirmation of appointments by the Dean of the College of Liberal Arts.
- 2) Elections to college-wide committees conducted within the Faculty Council The Elections Committee will solicit nominations from the eligible faculty of CLA for the college-wide committees that are elected by members of the Faculty Council. The Elections Committee will organize a ballot without preference for any candidate, conduct elections, and tabulate results for the election of members of these committees.
  - 3) College-wide Elections
- The Elections Committee will solicit nominations from the eligible faculty for the college-wide committees that are elected by the general faculty of the College of Liberal Arts. The Elections Committee will organize a ballot without preference for any candidate, conduct elections, and tabulate results for the election of members of these committees.
- 4) Elections to committees within the Faculty Council
  The Elections Committee will oversee the nomination of candidates for positions within
  the Faculty Council, organize a ballot, conduct the election, and tabulate the results for the
  election of the Executive Committee, Standing Committees, and any ad-hoc
  committees of the Faculty Council. Elections for positions in the Executive Committee and
  Standing Committees of the Faculty Council will take place at the final meeting of the Spring
  Semester for terms during the following academic year.
  - 5) Executive Committee Elections
- a. Nominations and candidate statements of no more than 150 words shall be solicited by the elections committee. These statements will be distributed to Faculty Council members in advance of the final meeting of the Spring semester. Nominations from the floor may also be accepted at the elections meeting. A brief (2 minute) oral statement may be made by candidates or nominators at this time. In this event, other candidates may make oral statements of the same length.
- b. Elections will proceed one by one in the following order: Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary,
- Member-at-Large 1, Member-at-Large 2. Candidates for one position who are not elected may
- add their names to the ballot for the next position.
- c. Candidates are elected with a simple majority. If no majority is achieved, a runoff vote will be conducted.
- 6.1. Between the time of the election in the Spring and the beginning of the academic year in

the fall, members of both the outgoing and incoming Executive Committees will work together in representation of the Council.

468 469 470

467

## F. OFFICE OF THE DEAN

- 1. The Dean of the College is appointed by the President after consultation with the Faculty of
- the College in accordance with the policies and procedures for such appointment established by
- the University through the Academic Senate. The provisions of this Constitution and the
- specific duties and responsibilities of the Dean defined in the Policies and Procedures
- documents of the College shall be considered by the Search Committee in its development
- (with the appropriate University administrator) of the Position Description under which a Dean
- is appointed and also in its review of candidates.
- 2. The Dean is the chief administrative officer of the College. The Dean's authority is
- that which is delegated by the President of the University, that which accrues to the Dean
- 480 from University policies, and that which is provided by the Faculty of the College
- through its appropriate representative bodies.
- 3. The Dean shall be accountable to the Faculty of the College for the efficient administration
- of University and College policies and for coordination of the work of the
- academic area Chairs and Directors in the administration of these policies within their areas.
- 485 4. The Dean shall develop and maintain an academic and administrative environment
- conducive to the achievement of the highest standards of student scholarship, to the
- enhancement of instructional excellence in the faculty, and to the continuing professional growth of the faculty.
- 5. The Dean may establish special or ad hoc committees on matters relating to the general
- welfare of the College. Recommendations or findings of such bodies shall be advisory only.
- 6. The Dean may delegate authority to one or more Associate or Assistant Deans.
- 492 6.1 A person shall become Associate or Assistant Dean of the College only after selection in
- accordance with the policies and procedures established by the University through the Academic
- Senate. The Dean and the relevant Search Committee shall determine jointly the specific duties
- and functions of an Associate or Assistant Dean in their preparation of
- a Position Description under which an Associate or Assistant Dean is appointed.
- 497 6.2 On the occasion of Periodic Administrative Review of an Associate or Assistant
- Dean, the Dean, the Associate or Assistant Dean being reviewed, and the Faculty Council shall
- review jointly the functions and duties of the office as specified in the operative position
- descriptions. If appropriate, a new position description may be formulated.

501 502

#### G. ACADEMIC AREAS

- 1. The Academic Areas of the College shall be the Departments and Programs extant in the College of Liberal Arts.
- 2. In addition to provisions of the University governing the creation and dissolution of
- Departments and Programs, an organization of faculty and curriculum shall become an
- Academic Area of the College only upon approval of both the Faculty Council and the Dean.
- An organization of faculty and curriculum shall lose recognition as an Academic Area of the
- College only upon approval of both the Faculty Council and the Dean.
- 3. All Academic Areas of the College shall have direct access to the Dean. They may
- forward requests to the Dean, initiate hiring requests and job descriptions of all their
- personnel, and review with the Dean all matters relating to their interests. They may appeal
- the Dean's decisions to the Faculty Council, to any appropriate College Committee, or to
- faculty bodies or administrative officers at the University level.
- 4. The faculty of any Academic Area may appeal any internal matter to the Dean and/or the
- Faculty Council that cannot first be resolved by the Chair or Director of the Area and a

- 517 committee of the Area faculty.
- 5. When not otherwise specified in University or College documents, the faculty of an
- Academic Area may determine the proportionality of student representation on that Area's committees and councils.

- ARTICLE IV. ELECTIONS
- 1. <u>Election procedures</u>. Elections for College committees, and for University elections in
- which other procedures are not specifically mandated, shall meet the requirements and
- follow the procedures given below.
- 1.1 There shall be ample opportunity for nominations to be made by any member of the
- relevant constituency. The Faculty Council shall specify appropriate periods and
- procedures for receipt of nominations for vacant offices.
- 529 1.2 Elections shall be by secret ballot.
- 1.3 Elections shall utilize "Single Transferable Vote Balloting", which is here defined as
- balloting which follows the procedures described below or which utilizes computer
- 532 programming or mathematical calculation to mimic the procedures.
- a. In election of people to serve on a college or university body, all the qualified
- nominees are listed on one ballot, and voters rank order their choices.
- b. Ballots are counted in a series of tallies that proceed as follows:
- 536 (1) In a first tally, every ballot is allocated to its first (highest) choice.
- 537 (2) At the end of the first tally, and then at the end of each subsequent tally, one candidate
- is eliminated from the running either (in order of priority) (a) because <u>declared elected</u> [see
- 539 (4) below] or (b) because a candidate from the same department has been declared elected and
- no more people from that department can serve or (c) because he or she is the lowest votegetter in the tally.
- 542 (3) In every tally subsequent to one in which a candidate has been eliminated from the running,
- each ballot is again allocated to its highest choice among the candidates still in the running.
- 544 [Example: Suppose a tally proceeds in which a ballot's first choice or highest ranked candidate
- has already been elected (or has been lowest vote-getter). That ballot is now allocated to its
- second choice. If its second choice has been eliminated, it is allocated to its third choice, etc.] If
- a ballot has no extant choice, it is set aside in this and all subsequent tallies.
- 548 (4) A candidate is declared elected when either (a) he or she has received a majority of
- votes cast in a tally or (b) he or she is still in the running and elimination of any more
- candidates would reduce the candidate list below the number still required to be elected in the
- 551 balloting.
- (5) When ties must be broken to determine which candidate is eliminated from the running
- (e.g. ties for "lowest vote-getter" in a tally) the tie shall be broken by lot. (6) Alternates
- are identified by being the last candidate(s) eliminated in the series of
- tallies before the requisite number of people to be elected as regular members has been
- reached. (I.e., an alternate is the highest vote-getter after the last person elected in the
- tallies.) [See Paragraph 2 in this Article IV.]
- 1.4 If the Faculty Council determines both (a) that Single Transferable Vote Balloting as
- described above can be conducted by use of the Internet, and (b) that the integrity of the
- balloting is not endangered in the process, the College may conduct elections using the
- 561 Internet.
- 2. Alternates and Vacancies. In electing members to committees and councils, the College
- may also elect Alternates ("Stand-by Alternates") to step into service should a vacancy occur

- due to resignation, leave of absence, or other cause.
- 2.1 The number of Stand-by Alternates elected for each committee shall be determined by the
- 566 Faculty Council.
- 2.2 Alternates to any committee shall be subject to the same membership requirements as
- regular members.
- 2.3. Alternates shall be elected as part of the normal balloting process, except in an
- election specifically to elect Alternates to a body. Alternates (in the number determined by
- each body by that body's membership charge or by the Faculty Council) shall be the nominees
- with the highest number of votes among those not elected to regular membership. In case of
- 573 ties, election and order among Alternates (1st Alternate, 2nd Alternate, etc.) shall be by lot.
- 2.4 Unless otherwise specified in the documents establishing the committee structure and
- charge, the term of office of an Alternate in Stand-by status shall be one academic year.
- a. Should an Alternate step into service to replace someone who leaves a committee, the
- Alternate shall normally assume as term of office the remainder of the term of the person being replaced.
- b. A member of a committee taking sabbatical leave for a semester may request that the
- Alternate serve only for that semester of leave so that the person on leave may resume
- committee service upon return to duty.
- 2.5 If a vacancy occurs in the Faculty Council or in a Committee for which there is no Alternate
- to step into service, a replacement shall be selected to complete the unexpired term. The
- selection shall be made as soon as practicable, and shall be in accordance with the provisions
- governing the particular Council or Committee. However, if those provisions call for an
- election and the Faculty Council determines there is not sufficient time in a semester to hold a
- special election to fill the vacancy, it may appoint a replacement to serve the remainder of the
- academic year.

590

## ARTICLE V. AMENDMENTS

- 1. Proposals to amend this Constitution are initiated by petition of at least 20 percent of the
- Faculty or by a majority of the Faculty Council. Proposals thus initiated shall then be
- forwarded to the Dean.
- 2. A proposed amendment submitted to the Dean shall be distributed to the faculty within ten
- working days of its receipt by the Dean. A general Faculty meeting shall be held to discuss the
- 596 proposed amendment seven to ten working days after its distribution. Proposed amendments
- may not be considered from the end of the Spring semester to the beginning of the subsequent
- 598 Fall semester.
- 3. Following the general Faculty meeting, proponents and opponents may, within ten working
- days, submit to the Office of the Dean a written "Argument In Favor Of" or "Argument
- Against" any proposed amendment, to be distributed to the faculty along with the ballot,
- provided that these "For" or "Against" arguments are signed by five or more faculty members.
- Arguments must not exceed 1,000 words in length. The Office of the Dean shall prepare and
- distribute to the faculty a ballot containing the proposed amendment, along with any arguments
- 605 For or Against.
- 4. An amendment to the Constitution shall become effective when it has been ratified by a
- majority of the valid ballots cast by the full-time faculty of the College in a secret mail ballot.
- 608 ARTICLE VI. RATIFICATION
- 1. This Constitution shall become effective upon ratification by a majority of valid ballots cast

- by the full-time faculty of the College in a secret mail ballot.
- 2. As soon as possible after ratification, the Faculty Council shall be elected as provided in this
- Constitution and shall immediately become the authorized Faculty Council of the
- 613 College. Terms of service shall be counted as beginning in the semester subsequent to that in
- which the Council is elected. Half the membership shall be selected by lot to
- serve a one-year term so that the "staggered terms" provision of this Constitution may be
- 616 effected.
- 3. All Standing Committees shall then be selected as provided in this Constitution for terms
- to begin in the semester following ratification of this Constitution. Wherever
- "staggered terms" are called for, this shall be effected by lot.
- 4. Evaluation Committee
- 4.1 At the beginning of the fifth semester after ratification, the Chair of the Faculty
- 622 Council shall appoint, with the concurrence of the Council, an Evaluation Committee of
- at least six faculty members to meet and to evaluate the provisions of this document. The
- Evaluation Committee shall work in consultation with the College's Faculty Council, its
- Standing Committees, and all faculty. This Evaluation Committee shall submit to the Council
- within a year a written report, which may include recommendations for Amendments to this
- 611 Constitution.
- 4.2 The College Council shall, at a regular meeting and as an item on its written agenda,
- consider the report, findings, and recommendations of the Evaluation Committee and take such
- implementing action as it deems appropriate and necessary.